LIVES

oF

INDIAN OFFICERS,

Slnstrative of the Historp

OF THE

CIVIL AND MILITARY SERVICES OF INDIA.

By JOHN WILLIAM KAYE,

AUTHOR OF “THE HISTORY OF THE WAR IN APGHANISTAN,” ‘“THE LIFE OF LORD METCALFE,”
‘THR HISTORY OF THE SEPOY WAR,” &c. &c.

IN TWO VOLUMES.
VOL. L

LONDON:
A. STRAHAN AND CO., LUDGATE HILL;

AND

BELL AND DALDY, YORK STREET, COVENT GARDEN.



DS
475.2

A
KR3
1867
A

LONDON :

PRINTKD BY C. WHITING, BEAUFORT HOUSE, STRAND.



TO0
GENERAL

SIR GEORGE POLLOCK,

G.C.B., G.C.S.L,
AND
THE RIGHT HONORABLE

SIR JOHN MAIR LAWRENCE, Baer,

G.C.B, G.C.S.L,

THE MOST DISTINGUISHED LIVING REPRESENTATIVES

OF THE

MILITARY AND CIVIL SERVICES OF THE EAST
INDIA COMPANY,

THESE VOLUMES ARE AFFECTIONATELY INSCRIBED.






PREFACE.

I THINK that something should be said regarding the cir-
cumstances, which have resulted in the publication of this
book.

Two or three years ago, I was invited by the editor and by
the proprietor of Good Words to write a series of biographical
papers illustrative of the careers of some of our most distin-
guished ¢Indian Heroes.” As the materials, in most in-
stances, were not to be obtained from printed books or papers,
to perform this task in a satisfactory manner—that is, to
write month after month, throughout the year, a memoir of
some soldier or statesman distinguished in Indian history—
would have been impossible to one, the greater part of whose
time was devoted to other duties, if it had not chanced that
for many years I had been gathering, from different original
sources, information relating both to the public services and
the private lives of many of those whose careers it was desired
that I should illustrate. I had many large manuscript volumes,
the growth of past years of historical research, full of per-
sonal correspondence and biographical notes, and I had exten-
sive collections of original papers, equally serviceable, which
had not been transcribed. As, therefore, only to a very
limited extent, I had to go abroad in search of my materials,
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I felt that I might accept the invitation and undertake the
task, God willing, without danger of breaking down. The
temptations, indeed, were very great—the greatest of all being
the opportunity of awakening, through a popular periodical
counting its readers by hundreds of thousands, the interests of
an immense multitude of intelligent people, whom every writer -
on Indian subjects is painfully conscious of being unable to
reach through the medium of bulky and high-priced books.

Of the Lives, which I selected for illustration, the greater
number had never been written before, and of those, which
had been written before, I had unpublished records which
enabled me to impart some little freshness to my memoirs.
The sketches were published originally without any chrono-
logical arrangement. They appeared, in uninterrupted suc-
cession, during the year 1865. The great difficulty with which
I had to contend was the necessary limitation of space. I was
often compelled to curtail the memoirs after they were in print,
and thereby to exclude much interesting illustrative matter.
As, however, the republication of the Lives in a separate work
had been determined upon, I had less regret in effecting these
mautilations. The excised passages are now restored, and new
additions made to the memoirs, considerably exceeding in
extent the whole of the original sketches. I may say, indeed,
that the work has been almost entirely re-written, the chapters
in the periodical having been little more than sketches of the
more finished portraits which are now produced after fifteen
additional months of conscientious research.

Of the materials, of which I have spoken, something more
should be said, the more especially, as in one or two instances
I have to acknowledge the assistance that I have derived from
other writers. For much of the valuable information con-
tained in the memoir of Cornwallis I am indebted to Mr.
Ross’s very ably-executed work. It should be stated, how-
ever, that long before his book was announced I had con-
templated the preparation of a Life of Lord Cornwallis, and
had amassed a considerable stock of materials in illustration
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of it. In 1850, I wrote to Lord Braybrooke, soliciting per-
mission to consult the records of the Cornwallis family, and I
received in reply a very courteous refusal—which, indeed, as
I was wholly unknown in England at that time, I ought to
have expected—accompanied with a statement that a prohi-
bition had been laid upon the publication of these family papers.
I was rejoiced to find afterwards that the prohibition had been
removed, and that the editing of the correspondence had been
placed in such good hands. I believe, however, that the stu-
dent of Mr. Ross’s book may find something new in my slender
memoir ; and, at all events, for reasons stated at its com-
mencement, there is a peculiar fitness in its insertion in this
work, which the reader will be well disposed to recognise. The
Lives of Sir John Malcolm and Sir Charles Metcalfe I had already
written in detail, but I felt that two such names could not be
excluded from my muster-roll. For a memoir of Mr. Elphin-
stone I had a considerable mass of original memorials, but
no amount of correspondence in my possession would have
rendered me wholly independent of the very able and interest-
ing biography communicated by Sir Edward Colebrooke to
the Journal of the Asiatic Society. The well-known volumes
of Sargent and Wilberforce, illustrative of the life of Henry
Martyn, have of course yielded the chief materials on which
the brief memoir of that Christian hero is based ; but from the
correspondence of Charles Grant the elder, made over to me
by his son, the late Lord Glenelg, I have been able to glean
something to impart a little novelty to this the most familiar
chapter of my work.

The memoirs in the second volume are all written from
original materials supplied to me by relatives or friends. The
journals and correspondence of Sir Alexander Burnes were
given to me by his brother, the late Dr. James Burnes, and
much supplementary information has been derived from other
sources. The journals of Eldred Pottinger were obtained for
me from his family, when I was writing the History of the
War in Afghanistan, by the assistance of Captain William
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Eastwick, now of the Indian Council, who was one of Sir Henry
Pottinger’s most cherished friends and associates; and the
Jjournals of Arthur Conolly came into my possession when I
was writing the same work. From the families of both I have
received very valuable assistance since I commenced the pre-
paration of these volumes. With D’Arcy Todd and Henry
Lawrence, officers of the Bengal Artillery, I had the privilege
of being on terms of cherished friendship. For the memoir of
the former abundant materials were supplied to me by his bro-
ther, Colonel Frederick Todd ; and for that of the latter I have
chiefly relied on my own private resources, knowing that Sir
Herbert Edwardes is writing a life of his great and good
friend, which will leave nothing unsaid that ought to be said
about him. Following out the list in chronological sequence,
I then come to the memoirs of those two great soldiers who
died so nobly for their country just as Fame was dawning
upon them—Neill and Nicholson. From the widow of the one
and from the mother of the other I received the memorials
which have enabled me to write, very imperfectly, I fear, the
lives of those heroic men ; but an opportunity may yet be
allowed to me, in another work, of doing further justice to
soldiers who have reflected so much glory on the great Army
of the East India Company.

Although to some small extent, perhaps, accidental circum-
stances may have favoured my choice of these particular Indian
worthies, from among so many, I think it will be considered
that on the whole they represent the Indian Services as fairly
and as completely as if the selection had been wholly the
result of an elaborate design.* For it will be seen that I
have drawn my examples from all the three great national
divisions of the British Empire—that Englishmen, Scotch-
men, and Irishmen come equally to the front in these pages.

* There is one omission, however, so than that he is entitled to a book to
observable, that something should be himself, and that I hope soon to be able
said respecting it. It will occasion sur- to discharge what is both a trust con-
prise to many that the name of Sir fided to me by the departed hero, and a
James Outram does not appear in the promise made to the loving ones whom
ist. There is no other reason for this he has left behind.
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Cornwallis, Metcalfe, Martyn, and Todd were Englishmen—
pure and simple. Malcolm, Elphinstone, Burnes, and Neill
were Scotchmen. Pottinger and Nicholson were Irishmen.
Ireland claims also Henry Lawrence as her own, and Arthur
Conolly had Irish blood in his veins. It will be seen, too,
that I have drawn my examples from all the three great pre-
sidential divisions of India. Metcalfe, Martyn, Conolly, Todd,
Lawrence, and Nicholson were Bengal officers, and served
chiefly in that Presidency ; Malcolm and Neill came from
the Madras Presidency; Burnes and Pottinger belonged to
Bombay ; whilst Elphinstone, though nominally attached to
the Bengal Civil Service, spent the greater part of his official
life in Western India. It will be also seen that nearly every
branch of the Service is illustrated in these biographies,* and,
in the military division, every arm is fairly represented.
Todd, Lawrence, and Pottinger were Artillery officers,
Arthur Conolly was of the Cavalry. Neill was attached to
the European Infantry, and Burnes and Nicholson to the
native branch of the same service—in which also Malcolm
commenced his career. From all of which it may be gathered
that it little mattered whence a youth came, or whither he
went, or to what service he was attached ; if he had the right
stuff in him, he was sure to make his way to the front.

The memoirs being now published in chronological sequence,
I am not without a hope that the collection may be regarded
in some sort as a Biographical History of India from the days
of Cornwallis to the days of Canning. All the great wars
which, during those momentous three-quarters of a century,
have developed so remarkably the military and political genius
of the ¢ Services,” are illustrated, more or less, in these pages.
The two great wars with Tippoo, the earlier and later Mahrattah
wars, the war in Afghanistan, the Punjab wars, and the Sepoy

* I must express my regret that the are exercised so unstintingly in the
volumes contain no example drawn cause of our suffering humanity, and
from the Medical Service of the East for those heroic qualities which are ex-
India Company—a service which was emplified by deeds of gallantry in the

Dever wanting in men equally eminent field, and by lives of daring adventure.
for thnse professional attainments which
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war, afford the chief incidents of the book. But the Historical
is everywhere subordinated to the Biographical. I have not
attempted, indeed, to write History ; it has grown up spon-
taneously out of the lives of the great men who make History.
But if it should not be of any value as a History of India, I
may still hope that it will be accepted as a not uninteresting
contribution to a History of the great Indian Services—the
Military and Civil Services of the East India Company. Those
Services are now extinct. I have striven to show what they
were in their best days; and unless the ability of the execu-
tion has fallen far short of the sincerity of the design, I have
done something in these pages to do honour to a race of public
servants unsurpassed in the history of the world. .

And I hope that, as a record of those services, this book,
however imperfect the execution of it, may not be without its
uses. I have striven to show how youths, from the middle-
class families of our British islands, have gone forth into the
great Eastern world, and by their own unaided exertions
carved their way to fame and fortune. The Patronage-system
of the East India Company, long condemned as a crying
abuse, and at last, as such, utterly abolished, opened the gates

. of India to a hardy, robust race of men, who looked forward
to a long and honourable career, and looked back only to think
of the joy with which their success would be traced by loving
friends in their old homesteads. But it is not now said for the
first time that the system could not have been very bad which
produced a succession of such public servants as those who are
associated with the history of the growth of our great Indian
Empire, and as many others who in a less degree have con-
tributed to the sum of that greatness. For the heroes of
whom I have written are only representative men; and,
rightly considered, it is the real glory of the Indian Services,
not that they have sent forth a few great, but that they
diffused over the country so many good, public officers, cager
to do their duty, though not in the front rank. Self-reliance,
solf-help, made them what they were. The  nepotism of the
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Court of Directors” did not pass beyond the portico of the
India House. In India every man had a fair start and an open
course. The son of the Chairman had no better chance than
the son of the Scotch farmer or the Irish squire. , The Duke
of Wellington, speaking of the high station to which Sir John
Malcolm had ascended after a long career of good work accom-
plished and duty done, said that such a fact ¢ operated through-
out the whole Indian service, and the youngest cadet saw in
it an example he might imitate—a success he might attain.”
And this, indeed, as it was the distinguishing mark, so was it
the distinguishing merit of the Company’s services ; and there
grew up in a distant land what has been rightly called a great
¢¢ Monarchy of the Middle Classes,” which, it is hoped for the
glory of the nation, will never be suffered to die.

I wish that the youth of England should see in these
volumes what men, merely by the force of their own personal
characters,.can do for their country in India, and what they
can do for themselves. I feel that on laying down the
book some readers may say that the discouragements are at
least as great as the encouragements, for that to a large pro-
portion of those of whom I have written Death came early, and
in many instances with sudden violence. But I know too
well the temper of the men from whom our armies are re-
cruited to believe that the record of such heroic deaths as
those of Todd and Lawrence, Neill and Nicholson, will make
any man less eager to face the risks of Indian life.

*“ Whoe'er has reached the highest pinnacle
Of fame by glorious toil or daring skill,
. « + . let him possess his soul in quietness
And bear his honours meekly ; at the last,
E'en gloomy death will have for such a one
Some gleams of brightness, for he will bequeath
To the dear offspring of his heart and race
Their best inheritance—an honoured name.”*

The deterring circumstances which threaten to impair the

* TREMENHERE'S PIXNDAR—a book in  simple, manly English, well adapted to
which the noble and inspiring thoughts such a theme as the exploits of Heroes.
of the old Greek poet are rendered in



xiv PREFACE.

.

efficiency of the Services are of a different kind. I am afraid
that there has grown up, in these latter days, a general dislike
to Indian service, and that those who go out to the East are
ever in & harry to come home again. The * nepotism of the
East India Company” had its uses. It was said to be a mon-
strous thing that the services of the East India Company were,
to a great extent, hereditary services, and that whole families
should be saddled upon India, generation after generation. We
only discovered the good of this after we had lost it. That
enthusiasm which is so often spoken of in these volumes as the
essential element of success in India, was nourished greatly by
these family traditions. The men who went out to India in
those old days of the East India Company did not regard
themselves merely as strangers and sojourners in the land.
They looked to India as a Home, and to Indian service as a
Career—words often repeated; but as their repetition is the
best proof of their truth, I need not be ashamed of saying
them again. It is in no small measure because I wish that
others should go forth from our English homes on the same
mission, and with the same aspirations, that I have written
these memoirs, and if I have induced even a few, contem-
plating these heroic examples, to endeavour to do likewise, I

shall not have written in vain.
. J. W. KAYE.

Norwood, May, 1867.
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LORD CORNWALLIS.
[BORN 1788.—DIED 1805.]

NoT of men of large estate, born to greatness, whom family 1788—180s.
influence and political power elevated to high official position,
without the toilsome and the patient ascent, has it been my
purpose to write in these Memoirs, but of men who, by the
unaided force of their own personal characters, made their way
to the front, along the open road of a graduated public service.
But there can be no fitter prologue to these illustrations of
native worth and noble self-reliance than that which may be
found in the life of the man who made the public service of
India what it has been and is in this nineteenth century. By
Lord Cornwallis, who was three times selected by the King’s
Government to fill the chief seat of the Indian Government,
and who twice discharged its duties, the civil and military
servants of the Company were raised from a band of adven-
turers, enriching themselves by obscure processes and doubtful
gains, to a class of virtuous and zealous public functionaries,
toiling ever for their country’s good. There were, doubtless,
brave and strong men before the coming of this Agamemnon ;
but official purity was almost unknown in those days, and
rapidly to acquire wealth by dishonourable means was so uni-
formly the rule of the adventurer, that no one accounted it
dishonour in others, or felt it to be dishonour in himself. Of
the corruption, which then traversed the land, Lord Cornwallis

sounded the death-knell. And from that time the great Com-
VOL. I B
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1738—1805. pany of Merchants, which governed India, was sexved:by. a

Faumily of
Cornwallis,

succession of soldiers and civilians unsurpassed in rectituds of
life by any whose names are recorded in the great muster-roil

‘of. the world. Therefore, I say, there can be no-fitter. intror

duction to sueh a work as this than a brief aceount of the

poldicr-statesman who, by purifying the. public serviea of
India, has enabled, the historian to write of mem as good ap

they were great, gnd. to illustrate their cargers, mldgts;l ww}g-

out any dmhone»t re-.erve or, any: pamful admigsions, . o

R o v u,{\!’\! ',,',vu’ ‘V

The family, of Comiwal,lw is ssud m hav.e been, asfargs 1.
can be traced backwards, originally of Irish stock ;. but itp
grandeur seems ta Thave been derived, in the firat inst
from the city of London, One Thamas, Commwallis wkﬂ
himself in the great English caluhal, took snccessfully to trade,

~ and iri 1378 becamo one.of the sheriffs of the City, . Having

amassed considerable wea]th, he bought some broad lands. in
Suffolk, to which his son Jaln, who represented the coupty in
Parliament, added by the purchase. of the estate of Brome.
From that time the family rose steadily in nportance, being

~ always steadfast in their loyalty to the Throne.- In 1599,

William Cornwallis was knighted at Dublin for his services
against the Irish rebels, and in.1627, Frederick Cornwallis,
his son, was created a baronet by Charles the First. Aftér the
death of Sir William. Cornwallis, his widow married Sir
Nathaniel Bacon, & half-brother of the philosopher, but only
enjoyed a single year of this seeond stage of wedded life. The
marriage, howover, had one important result. Sir Nathaniel
Bacon, who died in 16135, left the estate of Culford, near
Bury, in Suffolk, to his wxdow, from whom it in due eoursp
descended to Sir Frederlck Cornwallis, and became the prin-
cipal seat of the family. Having thus become an important
member of the landed aristocracy of the county, and being
distinguished for his loyalty to the Stuarts, Sir Frederick
Cornwallis, on the 20th of April, 1661, was created Baron
Cornwallis of Kye. On the 30th of Jume, 1753, the fifth
baron was raised to an carldom by the title of Earl Comwalhs
and Viscount Brome.

He had married in 1722 a daughter of Lord Townsheml,
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1757—88. Cornwallis, without any stops in it, in which he paid Lord
Brome a somewhat equivocal compliment by saying that he
had ¢ Jess of our home education than most young men.” So,
accompanied by a Prussian officer named Roguin, as his tra-
velling tutor, the young nobleman left England, and after
exploring some of the great continental cities, established
himself at the famous Military Academy at Turin, where he
entered upon a course of study profitable alike to body and
to mind. He began his day’s work at seven o’clock with
dancing exercise in the public salon ; at eight he took a course
of German ; from nine to eleven he spent in the riding-school ;
at eleven he was handed over to the Maitre d’Armes; from
twelve to three was devoted to dinner and recreation ; at three
he received private instruction in mathematics and fortification ;
and at five he had private dancing lessons. ¢‘ En suite,” said
M. de Roguin, in an amusing letter to the Earl, written in
very bad French, ¢ quelques visites, 'Opéra et le souper.”
He made good progress in his exercises, especially in those of
the more active kind, and evinced an excellent disposition, a
power of self-control and resistance of evil, very unusual, at
that time, in young aristocrats at the dawn of manhood.

The Seven But there was better training than that to be derived from
Yoars’ War.  goholastic life in any military academy, and Lord Brome was
eager to gain experience in the great school of active warfare.
Events were taking shape which threatened, or, in the esti-
mation of the young soldier promised, to turn the continent
of Europe into a great camp. ‘I see swarms of Austrians,
French, Imperialists, Swedes, and Russians,” wrote Lord
Chesterfield in August, 1758, ‘‘in all near four hundred
thousand men, surrounding the King of Prussia and Prince
Ferdinand, who have about a third of that number. Hitherto
they have only buzzed, but now I fear they will sting.” Eng-
land was about to cast in her lot with the weaker side, and to
espouse what to many on-lookers seemed a hopeless cause.
¢ Were it any other man than the King of Prussia,” said the
same brilliant letter-writer a few weeks afterwards, ¢ I should
not hesitate to pronounce him ruined, but he is such a prodigy
of a man that I will only say I fear he may be ruined.” Lord
Brome was at Geneva when tidings reached him that an
English army was about to be employed in Germany, and that
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the Guards were to take the field. This roused all his military 1758—s1.
enthusiasm, and he hurried through Switzerland, cursing the
country for its want of posts, and arrived at Cologne only to
find himself too late. ¢ Only imagine,” he wrote to his friend
and relative, Tom Townshend, ¢ having set out without leave,
come two hundred leagues, and my regiment gone without
me!” What was to be done? He might offer himself as a
volunteer to Prince Ferdinand of Brunswick, but it was re-
ported that the King had forbidden, and that the Duke had
set his face against, volunteering. He ‘resolved, however,
to try, and was received in the kindest manner.” Six weeks
afterwards the English, under Lord Granby, joined the camp
at Dulmen, in Westphalia; and the General then appointed
Lord Brome an aide-de-camp on his personal staff.

Nothing could have pleased the young soldier better than
this, for there was an opportunity of seeing service under the
happiest auspices. After little less than a year’s campaigning,
it was his fortune to be present at a great action, in which the
English took & conspicuous part. On the 1st of August, 1759,
the battle of Minden was fought—not wholly to our national
glory—and Lord Brome rode beside the Commander of the
British forces. Soon after this affair, he was promoted to a
company in a newly-formed regiment, the Eighty-fifth, and
was compelled to join it in England. There he remained
until 1761, when, in his twenty-third year, he was promoted
to the rank of Lieutenant-Colonel, and placed in command of
the 12th Foot, which was then with the army in Germany.
Hastening to join the camp of Lord Granby, he found his old
friend preparing for active operations against the enemy. The
French General, Broglie, had been joined by the Prince de
Soubise, and they were meditating an attack on the English
and Hanoverian lines near Hohenower. On the evening of
the 15th of July, Broglie flung himself with desperate resolution
on Lord Granby’s outposts, feeling well assured that he would
carry everything before him. The English General, not for-
getful of his old aide-de-camp, gave Lord Brome an oppor-
tunity of distinguishing himself, by sending him to the sup-
port of the picquets; and he did his work so well that the
enemy were repulsed with heavy loss, and next day, when the
action became general, were fairly beaten. Throughout the
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. 1761—68.  yemainder.of .tlis year and the ‘esrlibr pn't/ of 1769 Lord
. Brome, saw. much sérvice with his regiment in' Gennany, and
~ was repeatedly engaged in minor. affairs with the eriemy. The
. Twelfth was. ane of the. best. regiments in’ the field, and was

’ slways in the front when there wais work to bs done. - -

' ' But.the famous.Saven Years’ Wan was: nowudmwing to &
plose France wss exbausted ; Englend 'was: weatys and
Pmssxa had, gained,, or, rather. retaited all that she desited.

. The tmge had. come for serigus négotiation tending to & favdur-

able issue.; ,In the pevsonal; historyy:tos, of Lotd ‘Brome- an

. important: qoxgunctqm,»bml ~wrisen. »On:. the 28rd of Jtly,
1,762 his father diedy and. beibecame Earl Cornwallis. - In'the
course of the. following' November :he took 'his' seat in"the
House of Tords, But his heartiwas with! his.old regiment,
o @d h? gt“u d\wgl W ms|mlm&nhao Hﬁolﬂ@d Oouhtl'y
., quarters; better than the atmesphere .of- Parliament and: the
Court, and he went with. the Twelfth fiom-one lcomtry town
to anather, thh ng,wish'to-take pdrt ini-the strifs of political
i facp?ns, or in, the: intrigu¢es surrounding the throne: of the
.Y°‘mg ... Ha/was. atino;time of his life & very veliemént
' ;tl ta the coxe, he supported 'the Sm*ere)gn and
E lmqtms ‘when ihe eauld, da-so: with. a'safe conscierice, - If
o followed any .man, it was: Lord . Shetbuine, with whom he
"'had lived on terms of intimacy, when they wvere brothers-in-
arms on the great battle-fields of. Germany, and whe bad laid
down the sword for the portfoho,aad -etiteved. mpon that career
of statesmanship which led him in tioe to: the Premiership of
England.
. In 1765, the Rockingham Ministry was formed, and the
new ane Minister being anxious to conciliate Lord Shel-
burne by serving his friends, appointed Lord Cornwallis a
Lord of the Bedchamber. A few weeks afterwands he was
made an Aide-de-camp to the King. 1In the following year
he was appointed Colonel of the Thirty~third Regiment, and
one of the Chief Justices in Eyre, a conjunction of offices
which may appear to the uninitiated reader etrange and in-
consistent, but the functions of the Chief Justiceship, which
was a relic of old feudal times, mainly relating to the matter
of forest rights, had long since fallen into desuetude, aud tbe
‘office had become a sinceure. :



CORNMALLI® AKD JUNIUS. 7

- In the'momth of July, 1788; being then in his thirfieth 176870,
yw, Lerd Gornveallis married » daughter of Colonel Jones,
of the Secorid Regimeut.of Guards. ' With this Lidy, who was
-eight gr nine; years bisjumior; he' lived for some time in a
state of dlmast 1 uhclouded thappiness. In March, 1769, a
> -daughter was bomn- to Ahém.. He does not ‘appear’ to have
_j taken, ab tbwum pruch: pattiin public affairs. * The Ame- The American
- Xiean question Wag then begrinning to assume gigantic pro- question.
gpqrteons, and not mam: donld: hulplhamn ' or avold expressing
- opinions pn. guch & sukjeets- - The- sy'mpathlds of Lord Corn-
wallis were withithe Amevicans' and ‘Lord Chatham. In
March,. 1766y ¥éw. inonths: befove thit' great statesman was
. rajsed to-the Pderigeyi the young Earl had voted in'a minority
pf ﬁve,a@mst -thes asserted right of:taxing the American colo-
-(.umes. 1t ig probable, however, that he was mot sorry to absent
lumselfas maich fs'he reasonably and properly could from the
, -House of Loxds that! he might' not vote against the King.
. What was:the precise ichgraster of his’ rélations with Govern-
o mentit.is jmpossible to say. But ih the éatly part of 1770,
: when the Dnke.of Grafton was Prime Minister, he was dp-
i -pointed to. the Iuerative:offiée of Viee-Treasurer of Ireland,
", the duties of whieh:wére performed by deputy, and before the
_.end of; the year he.was made Constable of -the Tower. There
. was something strange and inexplicable in his position, which
- did mot ‘escape .remark s’ and "the great anomymous writer,
- whose malignant vigilanes nothing in high places could escape,
* fell upon him with remorseless vigour.®

- * What Junius, under- the acknow-
> ledged signature of * Dmmtmn, said of
bim was this : - *‘ My sincere compassion
for Lord Cornwallis arises not so mach

from his quality as from his time of ,

. Me. . A young man by his spirited con-
duct may atone for the deficiencies of
" ks wnderstanding, Where was the
. memory_of the noble Lord, ard what
kind of intellect must he possess, when
" he resigns his place, yet continues in the
support of the administration, makes a
parade of attending Lord North's lavee,
and pays a public homage to the deputy
of Lord Bute? Where js now his at-
tachment, where are now his professions
to Lord Chatham, his zeal for the Whig
interest of England, and his detestation

“of Lord Bute, the Balfords, and the

Tories ? ~ Since the time at which these

“were the only topics of his conversation,

I presume he has shifted his company
as well as his opinions, WIill he tell the

‘world to which of his uncles, or to what

friend—to Phillipeon or a Tory Lord—
he owes the advice which has directed
his conduct ? T will not press him fur-
ther. 'The young man has taken a wise
resolution at last, for he is retiring into
a voluntary banishment in hopes of re-
covering the ruin of his reputation.”
This letter was dated March 5, 1770, at
which time Lord Cornwallis was Irish
Vice-Treasurer. Tho place, thercfore,
which he is said to have resigned must
have beew the Chicf Justiceship in Fyre,
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From the close of the year 1770 to the dawm of 1776,
during which England drifted into the American war, there
is but little trace of the public career of Loxd Cornwallis. He
continued to hold the office of Constable of the Tower, but in
May, 1771, the Vice-Treasurership of Ireland passed from
him. He was very happy in his domestic life, and his happi-
ness was increased, in the course of the year 1774, by the birth
of a son. If he had followed only his own tastes and incli-
nations at that time, he would have retired altogether from
public life; for he was very little incited by ambition, and
there was not a taint of avarice in his nature. But England
was now on the eve of a great crisis, and the King had need
of the best cnergies of all his servants. It was not a good
cause for which Cornwallis was now again called upon to
unsheath the sword ; he had publicly, indeed, proclaimed his
antipathy to the measures out of which had arisen the bitter
strife which could now ‘be allayed only by the last arbitrement
of arms. In such a conjuncture there will, perhaps, always
be some conflict of opinion among honourable men with re-
spect to the right course of individual action. Lord Chatham,
by temporarily withdrawing his own son from the King’s
army, demonstratively asserted the doctrine that no man ought
to use his sword in an unrighteous cause. But Lord Corn-
wallis believed that it was his first duty, as a soldier, to obey
the orders of his King; and to render unto Ceesar the things
that were Ceesar’s, at any sacrifice both of private judgment
and of private convenience. It was a sore trial to him, for his
wife importuned him not to go, and even, it is said, by the
help of a powerful relative, prevailed upon the King to release
him from his obligations. But he would not avail himself of
this permission to remain in England. He took up the com-
mission of Lieutenant-General, which had been bestowed upon
him, and at the beginning of 1776 took command of his divi-
sion, which was under orders to embark at Cork.

which he had ceased to hold in the pre-

ing year. The reference can scarcely
be to the appointment in the Household,
which he had resigned some four years
before. Mr. Ross says that it is “im-
posgible to explain the letter of * Do-
mitian,” as Lord Cornwallis was present
in the House of Lords as frequently as
in former years, and all his votes on

American questions were *adverse to
the well-known wishes of the King.”
It is suggested that ‘ absence from
London on account of regimental
duties,” might have, to some extent,
interfered with regular attendance in
Parliament, but this could not have ex-
tended beyond March, 1766, when Lord
Cornwallis became a full Colonel,
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1. the’ Enghsh posts at Ddlawaie, to chpturé éur guns, 60 muke
prisoners of nearly all' our ‘men, and’ to'oéoupy the pheey witht:: |
rebel troops. The chish and the' Hesstans 'had -been keeping - i
up’ Christmas somewhat ‘fréély, nd :the American ‘Geseral .
found them in & helpless state-of drinkentiess or sleepi Cofn= -~
wallis, had by thils time’ put ‘his troops ‘ints Wistor-qtartars).. -
and, belieying that' the operations’of ‘the sewson wors.at st . 1
end ‘was’ medxtatmv a'¢tislt to Brighind, whon: niews of the-
enemy’s sucecss renched ‘him' at New ¥ork, dnd’ heratoonce: *
abandoned his “design.  Starting oft' New ' ¥earsudwy “foom -
New York, hé reached 'Pritico-town ‘on:'the! safie’ levaulngf 2
took command of ‘the ‘British: ‘troops in"Jérdey, and: wdvenced
to give battle to the enemy ' Before nifhufull on the 2n ho
had reached Trenton. ' The Americans- evacoatod the zpl:we; 1
and bivouacked on'the opposite busik-of & ¢reck whivh: ran ;
through the town. " “Phe nighit Was spént by the ﬂwwﬂenmh
in reflections of &’ very ‘pposite’ character.” ‘Cormwallis::was: 1
thinkin Thow best to bring on & genersl action’ riext  morTing;
whilst ashmgton, ‘clearly seeing ‘that the odds were grdatiy.:
against him, and'victory hopeless, detérmitied to escape under'>
cover of the night. ' Hé could riot recross she Delaware, forw !
thaw had' set in, 5o doubled' back towards Prinies-town, haping /
to get.into the rear of Cornwallis's atmy ; bud in the thick fog «
of the January morning he had the mischanice to fudl in'withw .
body of British troops, who gave him-battle, amd, in"spite:of
their inferiority of numbers, threw the Americau battalions-.
into confusion, and inflicted a severe chastisement upon them:
There were but two English regiments, and neitlrer was nume- |
rically strong ; so the advantage gained -at the outset was not '
followed up, and before Cornwallis could prodeed.to thieir sup-
port, the enemy had made good their retreat, had crossed the
Millstone river, and destroyed the bridge in theirrear. Ris
not necessary to pursue the narrative. The winter was remw
dered disastrous to the King’s party by the activity o&f Washs-
ington and the paralysis which had fallen upon Howe.. Gdrn-
wallis received the especial thanks of his Sovereign ;' but: e
felt that there could not be a worse field of distinction tham
that which lay before him in the American provinces.*

- * I read with much pleasure your applauds the ability nd condact whidh
¢ommendation of Lord Cornwallis’s ser- his Lovdship displayed, &o. &e.—Lord
vices during the campai fn, and I am to George Germain to Sir W. Howe, M: mfx
acquaint you that the King very much 8, 177%.— Corawalks Correspondénce.
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_ But the time, had passed. for him, to progeed to Bugland .

177778,

during thet wiritev ; ,80.the year 1777, almost to, its olose, saw

Lord Cornwallis in-the coxumand of ) hJs division. . Of the little '
that mwas. Home,well during .that year, he did the greater part.
Sir William Howe wes a1 eay, geod-natured, popular man ; n
buthis: gualitiesi wege. rather.of .2 socisl. than a- military cha- |
racter, and excessive sloth, was the charadteristic of the Bri- ~
tish’ army under his ¢ommapd. . It was his habit to move "
too-late and. to :halti ¢9p early for.amy, useful purpose. . The
military asmalists’ are.continnally xeciting the successes which

were within the resch. of the British,troops, but wlrich. were

mitted, however, that. Lord Cornwallis was more, prompt and
rapid in his sovements:than the other British Generals, and

i

always abandened, juptiat. the point of. attamment Tt is ad- .

b

it -appears that whepn theye was real work .to, ba dene he was
ever the man to big sant;; to the front. . He did. he work well, |
too—as far ag he was permitted to d,p it. . One Iinstance waI

suffice to show: the quality of the. angra.l. ln the bummg
month of Jume, it, sepmed to the- Epghsh Commander that
circumstances, were fayeurable for an attack on Wa,shmgton 8
force ; and Cornwallis wes semt, ﬁmyard,, in command of the
van of the British army, $a, give him battle He had not |
marched far before he fell in with the, lqadmg columns of the

American army. No orders were: now needed from hrgher'

authority, so Cornwallis flung himself upon the enemy with
so much impetuosity that they. staggered. at the first onset,
and were soon in & state of inextricable confusion. Leavmg
behind them their guns and their killed and wounded, they
fled in disorder from the field.

But the winter came round again, and Comwallls, dxsap-
pointed in the preceding year, was now eager to return to
Engla.nd. Sir William Howe sent him home with a commis-
sion to communieate with the King’s Government regard-
ing the general history and conduct of the war. On the 18th
of January, 1788, he disembarked from the Brilliant, and
hastened to embrace his wife and children. The joy of meet-
ing even then was clouded by the thought of the coming
separation. Brief was the time of absence allowed to him,
and there was much in that little time to be done. The
months of February and. March and the earlier wecks of
April passed rapidly away in the transaction of business with
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1778.  the King’s Ministers, in attendance at the House of Lords,
and in sweet communion with his family. The prospect before
him was not cheering. His sentiments were unchanged. He
had heard ‘with reverential sorrow the dying voice of Chatham
lifted up in a last despairing effort to save his unhappy
country from an ignominious peace; but he did not the less
deprecate the causes of the war, or disapprove of the manner
in which it was conducted. He had seen everything going
wrong, when there was only an undisciplined militia to be
coerced by the best troops of the King, and now France was
lending her aid to the cause of American Independence. It
was true that General Howe, who had done so much to favour
the triumph of the rebels, was about to resign the command of
the King’s forces in America. But the General’s place was
to be filled by one whom he did not like so well as a man, and
whom he did not trust much more as a commander. So he
went to the place of embarkation, at the end of the third week
of April, in a state of sore depression of spirit, with nothing
but the one abiding sense of his duty as a soldier to sustain
him.

Death of Lady ~ His wife and children accompanied him to Portsmouth.

Comwallis: ~ The parting was very painful, and Lady Cornwallis went

back to Culford utterly weighed down by the burden of her
grief. She had lived in strict retirement during the first
absence of her lord, and now she relapsed into her old soli-
tary ways, grieving and pining as one without hope, until her
health gave way beneath the unceasing weight of her sorrow,
and she said that she was dying of a broken heart. In this
piteous state, a strange fancy seized her. She desired that a
thorn-tree might be planted over her grave in the family vault
at Culford, just above the spot where her poor broken heart
would be laid, thus emblematising the fate of one whom the
¢ pricking briars and grieving thorns” had torn and pierced
in the tenderest parts of her humanity. This was to be her -
" epitaph. Not a word was to be graven on her tomb.

In the mean while Lord Cornwallis had rejoined the King’s
army in America. He found that Sir Henry Clinton was on
the point of evacuating Philadelphia, and that there was small
chance of his ever being able to co-operate harmoniously with
his chief. He was now second in command, and he held a
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void thpt was' left in his heart and to appedse its cravmgs.
‘After & brlef mtend of mournful, retirement, he looked the
world ‘again in the face, and t.cndered his services to the King
for re-employment in Amenca.

'The offer was eagerly wccepted and again Lord Cornwalhs
was -appointed secorid in  command and provisional Co
ma.nder—m~Chxef in’ Amenca; He was now forty )eamm}
age, in the very wgour ‘of his manhood ; and if he was not
stirred by any, strong unpulses of ambltlon, there was not one
of the King’s servants who was sustained by a higher and
more enduring sonse of duty. ~ Duty, indeed, was naw everys

“thing to Cornwallis; The wreck of his domestlc happmees

had endeared his work to him, and that which had before bee
subxmsslon to a hard necessity, now became, in the clm.n
circumstances of his life, a welcomie relief from the pressurq
of a great sorrow. Perhaps even certain pamﬁal peculmrmeq
in his situation were not without their uses in distracting his
mind, and breaking in upon the monotony of his distress.
How it happened I cannot very d.lstmctly explain, but thq
King’s Ministers had assuredly placed him in a position w'hlch
rendered a conflict with Sir Henry Clinton sooner or later in-
evitable. As second in command, with a provisional commis-
sion to succeed to the chiefship of the army, it. was not easy
altogether to keep clear of jealousies and rivalries ; but as the
King’s Government had authorised him to correspond directly
with them, as thongh he held altogether an independent comn-
mand, there was a vagueness about the limits of authority,
wlnch was sure to create perplexlty and to excite antagonism
between the two Generals. It is probable that Clinton foresaw,
this, for he asked permission to resign.. If there were, how-
ever, any bitterness of feeling in his mind, he veiled it with
becoming courtesy. ¢ I must beg leave,” he wrote to Lord
George éermam, “to express how happy I am made by the
return of Lord Cornwallis to this country. His Lordship’s
indefatigable zeal, his knowledge of the _country, his pro-
fessional ability, and the high estimation in whicl he is held
by this army must naturally gwo me the warmest confidence
of efficacious support from him in every undertaking whick
opportunity may prompt, and our circumstances allow. But
his presence affords to me another saurce of satisfaction. When
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16th of August, Cornwallis and Gates found themselves within
reach of each other. The English General commenced the
attack, and, after a sharp conflict, totally defeated the enemy,
and took their guns, ammunition, and baggage. ¢ In short,”
wrote the English General, ¢ there never was a more complete
victory.”” But victories, in those days, however complete, did
not lead to much. After the battle of Camden, Cornwallis
determined to execute the design, which he had previously
formed, of advancing into North Carolina. But he had not
proceeded farther than Charlotte-town, when he found that the
situation of affairs was such as to preclude all hope of the suc-
cess of offensive operations. There wasa scarcity of carriage ;
there was a scarcity of stores; and, worse than all, there was
such a scarcity of active loyalty in North Carolina, that even
the most sanguine of generals could have seen but little bright-
ness in the prospect before him. The militia of so-called
“loyalists,” raised in America, were not to be trusted. They
were as likely as not to forsake the standard of King George
in a critical moment, and go over bodily to his enemies. The
people who would have remained true to the parent State
were disheartened by the want of vigour with which the war
had been prosecuted by the King’s Government, and found
that there was no safety for them except in adhesion to the
““rebel” cause. Whilst things were in this state, a serious
disaster occurred to a detachment of loyalists under Major
Ferguson, which dispelled all doubt upon the subject of the
comparative strength of the two parties in North Carolina ; so,
as it was now the month of October, Cornwallis determined to
take up a defensive position, and to place his army in winter-
quarters. He had himself fallen sick; a severe fever had
seized him ; and he was incapacitated for a while for service in
the field.

During the winter months, Lord Cornwallis remained in-
active, with his forces, at Wynnesborough ; but the advance into
North Carolina had been deferred, not abandoned, and his
mind was busy with the thought of the coming campaign. The
new year found him with restored health and renewed eager-
ness for action. It was scarcely, indeed, a week old, when he
wrote to Sir Henry Clinton that he was ready to begin his

~march. But the new campaign rose, as the old had set, in a
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cloud of disaster. A force of all arms, sent forward under  1781.
Colonel Tarleton ““to strike a blow at General Morgan,” re-
ceived itself such a blow from the American, that it reeled and
staggered, and was so sore-stricken that it never recovered
again. At the first onset the enemy’s line gave way, and re-
tired ; but when the King’s troops went in pursuit, the
“rebels” faced about, and delivered such a sharp fire that both
our Infantry and our Cavalry were thrown into confusion,
and were soon in a state of panic flight. The Artillery, after
the fashion of that branch of the service, stood to their guns,
and surrendered them only with their lives.

This disaster at Cowpens was as serious as it was unexpected ; Battle of
and, although it incited Cornwallis to redouble his exertions, Guildford-
he never wholly recovered from its effects. When the news
reached him, he pushed forward with all possible despatch,
hoping to overtake Morgan ; but the American General had a
clear start, and was not to be caught. So Cornwallis planted
the King’s standard at Hillsborough; but, forage and pro-
. visions being scarce in the neighbourhood, he crossed the Haw
River about the end of February, and posted himself at Alle-
manse Creek. There, at the beginning of March, he gained
tidings of the movements of the enemy under General Greene,
and was eager to give them battle. On the 14th, the welcome
news came that the enemy had advanced to Guildford, some
twelve miles from the British camp. The following morning
saw the army under Cornwallis pushing forward to meet the
American forces, or to attack them in their encampments.
They were soon in sight of each other. An hour after noon
the action commenced. The country, bounded by extensive
woods, was unfavourable to open fighting, and afforded little
scope for any complicated generalship. But the simple dis-
positions of Cornwallis were admirable, and the English. troops,
among which, conspicuous for their gallantry, were the Guards,
covered themselves with glory. They were greatly outmatched
in numbers.* The American General had chosen his ground,
had disencumbered himself of his baggage, and had ample time

* In a letter to General Phillips, given on the morning of March 15, shows that
in Mr. Ross’s work, Lord Cornwallis he had nearly two thousand men, and
says that the enemy were ‘“seven times the enemy had about seven thousand.
his number.” But his * present state,”

YOL. L (¢}

/
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to conoert his plans before the English had come within reach
of his guns. In short, everything was against the English
Commander. But his own coolness and confidence in the
face of these heavy odds, and the unflinching courage of his
men, made inferiority of numbers and disadvantages of position
matters only of small account. Throughout the long series of
military operations which preceded the disruption of the Ame-
rican colonies from the parent State, no battle was better
fought by the English, no victory was more triumphantly ac-
complished, than that which crowned this action at Guildford.
The Americans, disastrously beaten at all points, fled from the
field of battle, and when, at a distance of eighteen miles from
the scene, Greene was able to rally his disordered troops, he
found that he had few except his Regulars with him. The
American historians admit that this was a signal illustration of
the steadfastness and courage of the English troops when
effectively commanded ; whilst the English annalists of the war
relate that nothing grander was seen at Crecy, Poictiers, or
Agincourt.* In this action Cornwallis was wounded ; but he
would not suffer his name to appear in the list of casualties.
But it was one of the sad and sickening circumstances of
this unhappy war, that when "the King’s troops gained a
victory—and they were victorious in well-nigh every pitched
battle—they could never turn it to account. In effect, it was
commonly more like a defeat. Regarding it solely in its
military aspects, no success could have been more complete
than that which crowned the day’s hard fighting at Guildford ;
but it hurt the British more than the Americans. So shattered
and sore-spent was Cornwallis’s little army after that unequal
contest, that to follow up the victory was impossible ; nay, to
fall back and refit was necessary. There was no forage in the

* Stedman, after describing in glowing
terms the victory of Guildford, says:
* History, perhaps, does not furnish an
instance of a battle gained under all the
disadvantages which the British troops,
assisted by a regiment of Hessians and
some Yagers, had to contend against at
Guildford Court House. Nor is there,
perhaps, in the records of history, an in-
stance of a battle fought with more de-
termined perseverance than was shown

by the British troops on that memorable
day. The battles of Cregy, of Poictiers,
and of Agincourt —the glory of our own
country and the admiration of ages—
had in each of them, either from parti-
cular local situation or other fortunate
and favourable circumstances, something
in a degree to counterbalance the supe-
riority of numbers; here, time, place,
and numbers, all united against the
British.”
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neighbourhood ; there was no shelter. The troops were with- 1781.
out provisions, and the people in the vicinity were afraid to

supply them. Having done the best he could, therefore, for

his wounded, which was but little, he determined to fall back

to a more desirable resting-place. Three days after the battle

he marched out from Guildford. But he could find no con-
venient halting-place nearer than Wilmington; so there he
planted his army on the 7th of April, and in no very sanguine

mood began to meditate the future of the war.

The prospects before him were anything but cheering. If Prospects of
it were true in this instance that those who were not with the ™o~
him were against him, nearly the whole population of the
American colonies was now arrayed against King George.
There was but little loyalty left in the country, and that little
was afraid to betray itself. The colonists who would have sup-
ported the King’s cause by passive submission, if not by active
assistance, were weary of waiting for the deliverance they ex-
pected ; and as his enemies were waxing stronger and stronger
every day, and with increased strength gathering increased
bitterness, it had become absolute ruin to be on the King’s
side. But, hopeless as was the issue, the King’s Generals
were constrained to continue’the war as best they could ; and
to Cornwallis it seemed best to carry it into Virginia. ¢ If,”
he wrote to Lord George Germaine, ‘it should appear to be
the interest of Great Britain to maintain what she already
possesses, and to push the war in the Southern Provinces, I
take the liberty of giving it as my opinion that a serious at-
tempt on Virginia would be the most solid plan, because suc-
cessful operations might not only be attended with important
consequences there, but would tend to the security of South
Carolina, and ultimately to the submission of North Carolina.”
And there were immediate considerations which rendered it
expedient that he should put his plans into execution without
any loss of time. ¢ My situation here is very distressing,” he
wrote from Wilmington to his friend General Phillips, on the
24th of April. ¢ Greene took the advantage of my being
obliged to come to this placo, and has marched to South
Carolina. My expresses to Lord Rawdon on my leaving Cross
Creek, warning him of the possibility of such a movement,
have all failed ; mountaineers and militia have poured into the

c2
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back part of that province, and I much fear that Lord Rawdon’s
posts will be so distant from each other, and his troops so
scattered, as to put him into the greatest danger of being beat
in detail, and that the worst consequences may happen to
most of the troops out of Charles-town. By a direct move
towards Camden, I cannot get time enough to relieve Lord
Rawdon ; and, should he have fallen, my army would be ex-
posed to the utmost danger, from the great rivers I should
have to pass, the exhausted state of the country, the numerous
militia, the almost universal spirit of revolt whicH prevails in
South Carolina, and the strength of Greene’s army, whose
continentals alone are at least as numerous as I am; and I
could be of no use on my arrival at Charles-town, there being
nothing to apprehend at present for that post. I shall, there-
fore, immediately march up the country by Duplin Court
House, pointing towards Hillsborough, in hopes to withdraw
Greene. If that should not succeed, I should be much tempted
to try to form a junction with you.”* On the following day
he marched from Wilmington ; but at that very time Lord
Rawdon was in hot conflict with Greene at Hobkirk’s Hill.
The English troops, according to their wont, were victorious in
action ; but they could make nothing of their victory, and the
enemy, though beaten, escaped.

The ground, however, was clear for Cornwallis’s advance,
and, during the space of three or four weeks, he marched un-
interruptedly right through North Carolina into the Virginian
provinces. He had spoken of the attempt, in the letter above
quoted, to form a junction with Phillips only as a contingency,
but he appears in reality to have determined upon it; and on
the 20th of May he was at Petershurg. He arrived with a heavy
heart ; for, as he entered Virginia, he learned that his friend,
whom he was advancing to relieve, and on whose co-operation
he had relied, was lying cold in his grave. It was, indeed, &
heavy loss both to himself and to his country, and it cast a
cloud over the prospects of the campaign. He had at no time
been very hopeful of the issue; but he saw that the only thing
to be done was to carry the war into Virginia, and so he pro-
ceeded at once to map out his operations. ¢ I shall now pro-

* This letter is printed at length in ply to Sir Henry Clinton's Narrative,”
the Appendix to Lord Cornwallis's *‘ Re- published in 1783,
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ceed,” he wrote to Clinton on the 26th of May, ‘“to dislodge
La Fayette from Richmond, and, with my light troops, to
destroy any magazines or stores in the neighbourhood which
may have been collected either for his use or General Greene’s
army. From thence I purpose to move to the neck at Williams-
burg, which is represented as healthy, and where some sub-
sistence may be procured, and keep myself unengaged from
operations which might interfere with your plan for the cam-
paign until T have the satisfaction of hearing from you. Ihope
I shall then have an opportunity to receive better information
than has been in my power to procure relative to a proper
harbour and place of arms. At present, I am inclined to think
well of York.”* He had already, indeed, commenced his
march, and was pressing on towards Richmond when he wrote.
Once he contrived to draw La Fayette into battle, and gave
him so warm a reception, that if night had not fallen on the
conflict, he might have taken the Frenchman’s whole corps.
But from this time the tide of fortune turned, darkly and
sadly, against the English Commanders. The eventual success
of the King’s troops had long become hopeless. All the seeds
of a great failure were in the very nature of the business itself,
and it needed but one adventitious circumstance to develop
them speedily into a great harvest of disaster. Small chance
is there that a military expedition should prosper at any time,
when the leaders are divided against themselves. There was
need, at this time, for the most perfect unity of action. But
Cornwallis and Clinton were operating, in different parts of
the country, without any common plan of action. The com-
munications between the two forces were extremely defective,
and it is doubtful whether the Generals cared to improve them.
It was for years afterwards a subject of vehement controversial
discussion whether Clinton had or not approved of the ex-
pedition into Virginia at all. Irritated, and perhaps not with-
out reason, by the permission given to Cornwallis to correspond
directly with the King’s Government, the Commander-in-

* The truth is, that not feeling cer- had ‘‘resolved to take advantage of
tain that he would succeed, he was un- General Greene’s having left the back
willing to raise expectations in Phillips’s part of Virginia open, and march imme-
mind which might not be realised by diately into that province to attempt a
the result; but he wrote at the same junction with General Phillips.”
time to the King's Government that he

1781.
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Chief said sneeringly that he did not know but that his Lord-
ship had received his orders from the Secretary of State ; and
Cornwallis declared that the style of Clinton’s letters to him
was 80 offensive, that he would have thrown up his command
in disgust, had the circumstances of the war at that time been
of a less critical character. It is not necessary to pursue the
story of these dissensions. It is enough that whilst the power
of the English was rapidly crumbling away, the Americans
were gathering fresh strength for the contest. Large rein-
forcements were coming in from France; and the military
genius of the colonists was in course of rapid development.
It was plain that the Allies were meditating a grand attack
upon the English forces ; but so imperfect was our knowledge
of their movements and their designs, that it was uncertain
whether the great descent would be made on Clinton’s position
at New York or on Cornwallis’s on the York River. So each
Geeneral was eager to be reinforced by the other, and the
energies of the British troops were wasted in embarkations and
disembarkations and fruitless preparations for contingencies
that never occurred.

All idea of offensive operations in Virginia had now been
abandoned. Cornwallis had posted his troops at York and Glou-
cester, two small towns or villages on opposite banks of the
York River, and there he began at once to throw up defensive
works. On the 22nd of August he wrote to Clinton, saying that
“his experience of the fatigue and difficulty of constructing
works in that warm seasen, convinced him that all the labour
that the troops there would be capable of without ruining their
health would be required for at least six weeks to put the in-
tended works at this place in a tolerable state of defence.” And
as time advanced, and the works proceeded, it was manifest
that he would have need of all the defensive power that he
could create; for in the early autumn it became certain that
Washington was about to concentrate all his energies upon a
decisive attack on Cornwallis’s position. In truth, he was now
in imminent danger—and all that he could do was to work and
to wait. ‘ While fleets and armies,” writes one of the histo-
rians of the war—¢ Frenchmen from Rhode Island and the
West Indics, and Americans from North, South, East, and West
—were gathering round him, Lord Cornwallis continued to for-
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paigns in America. When our people made a gallant sortie
upon the destroying batteries of the enemy, and spiked their
guns, complete as was the first success of the brave exploit, it
was as profitless as all our other successes. The guns were
soon made serviceable again, and our position was more sorely
pressed than before. Then Cornwallis saw clearly that there
was no longer any hope of a successful issue to his defensive
operations. The month of October was fast wearing away,
and there was no appearance of the promised succours. There
were only two ways of saving the army under his command.
One was by surrender, against which his soul revolted, and
the other was by cutting his way through the enemy ; and
this, hazardous as it was, had far greater attractions for him.
So he resolved, under the cover of the night, to embark his
troops, to cross the river, and to force his way through the
enemy’s lines on the opposite bank. It was a resolution
worthy of a brave man; but Providence forbade its suc-
cessful issue. The attempt was made, but it failed. A violent
storm arose, and baffled the enterprise midway towards com-
pletion. The boats which had crossed the river with a portion
of the force could not be sent back to bring over the re-
mainder, and before the wind had moderated the favouring
darkness had passed. All that Cornwallis could then do was
to withdraw the regiments that had passed over from their
perilous position on the opposite bank of the river, and to
seek safety behind the lines of York Town.

But there was no longer any safety to be found there.
The works were crumbling to pieces. The ammunition in
store was well-nigh exhausted. Sickness had broken out
among the troops, and there was- barely enough effective
strength in garrison to man the lines.  The longed-for suc-
cours were now past hoping for; and the last throw of de-
spairing heroism had failed. In this extremity, on the 18th
of October Cornwallis called a council of his chief officers and
engineers ; but no man could speak words of comfort to him,
or fortify him with assurances that there were any means of
resisting the assaults of the enemy, which were then hourly
expected. ¢ Under all these circumstances, I thought,” he
wrote afterwards to Sir Henry Clinton, ‘it would have been
wanton and inhuman to the last degree to sacrifice the lives
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of this small body of gallant soldiers, who had ever behaved
with so much fidelity and courage, by exposing them to an
assault which, from the numbers and precautions of the
enemy, could not fail to succeed. I therefore proposed to
capitulate.”

A letter was, therefore, addressed to Washington, who
answered that, ardently desirous to spare the further effusion
of blood, he would willingly discuss such terms of surrender
as he might consider admissible. The terms agreed upon were
that the British garrison should march out of York Town
¢ with shouldered arms, colours cased, and drums beating”
—the cavalry with swords drawn and trumpets sounding—
and that then they were to ground their arms, and to become
prisoners of war. The officers, however, were to be allowed
to retain their side-arms.* In effect, this humiliating reverse
brought the war in America to a close, though it was feebly
maintained for a space of more than another year. Corn-
wallis had attempted to negotiate terms, permitting the offi-
cers and men under him to leave America for England or
Germany on parole. To this Washington would not accede,
and so the prisoners of war were to remain on the scene of the
disaster, under the supervision of the allies. The French in
this conjuncture behaved with a generosity that it is pleasant
to record. ¢ The treatment in general,” wrote Cornwallis, a
few days after his surrender, ¢ that we have received from the
enemy has been perfectly good and proper; but the kindness
and attention that have been shown to us by the French
officers in particular—their delicate sensibility of our situation
—their generous and pressing offers of money, both public
and private, to any amount—has really gone beyond what I
can possibly describe, and will, I hope, make an impression
on the breast of every British officer, whenever the fortune of
war should put any of them into our power.” Good words,
and worthy to be remembered ; a generous recognition of con-
duct right generous in an enemy, becoming the chivalry of the
two.foremost nations of the world.

But Cornwallis was not doomed to remain long a captive
in America. It happened that one of the commissioners ap-

* There were several other subsidiary articles, but it is necessary only to recite
the above.
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pointed by Washington to negotiate the terms of capitulation
was Colonel John Laurens, whose father, Henry Laurens,
President of Congress, had been captured by the English,
and was then a prisoner in our hands. Nay, more—having
been committed to the Tower, he was nominally in the cus-
tody of Lord Cornwallis, who still retained the office of Con-
stable. So it was thought that an exchange of these two
illustrious prisoners might be effected. Cornwallis, therefore,
was allowed to leave America on his parole. He arrived in
England a few days after the dawn of the new year. But the
negotiation of the exchange was a long and weary business,
and dragged painfully all through the year. The Americans
denied that they had promised to release Cornwallis in ex-
change for Laurens, and having taken another English Ge-
neral,* who might be exchanged for their countryman, thought
it would be well to continue the parole of the first, and at one
timo threatened to recal him to America. All this disquieted
him greatly. There was at the same time, too, another source
of trouble. Sir Henry Clinton had returned to England, and
had commenced a war of pamphlets, in which Cornwallis felt
himself obliged to take part in self-defence. The main ques-
tion so acrimoniously discussed was whether Clinton had, or
had not, sanctioned the operations in Virginia which were
brought to so disastrous a close. A large mass of correspond-
ence was produced by both disputants in support of their
several assertions, with the result that generally attends paper-
warfare of this kind. Neither party was convinced by the
other ; public opinion was divided ; and the question remained
at the end of the controversy in the same state as when it was
commenced. .

But the discussion came to an end without a duel, and at
last Cornwallis was released from his parole. He then becamo
cager for re-employment in the line of his profession. He
had little taste for party politics, and his position was not a
pleasant one, for the most cherished of his personal friends,
and those with whose sentiments he most sympathised, were
in Opposition;+ and as he held an appointment under Go-

* General Burgoyne. Prime Minister from July, 1782, to
1 Lord Shelburne, whom he always April, 1783, when his ministry was
regarded as his political leader, was overthrown.
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the services of Cornwallis. Fox, indeed, though in no wise
his friend, private or political, paid him the highest possible
tribute in the course of his speech on the India Bill.* But
there was a change of Ministry, followed by a general elec-
tion ; and the reins of empire were now securely in the hands
of Mr. Pitt. The new year found Cornwallis manifestly re-
luctant to take service in India. ¢ Should any proposals be
hereafter made to me relative to India,” he had written to
Colonel Ross in December, ¢ I do not feel at all inclined to
listen to them. I am handsomely off, and in the present
fluctuating state of affairs at home, with violent animosities
about India, I can see no prospect of any good. I am aware
that present ease may have some weight, but it requires
great resolution to engage a second time in a plan of certain
misery for the rest of my life without more substantial en-
couragements.” The change of Ministry rendered it certain
that the offer would be renewed; and as soon as the abate-
ment of popular excitement at home allowed Mr. Pitt and his
friends to give a thought to the remote dependency of India,
they began to sound him as to his willingness to turn his face
towards the East Indies.

It appears to have been, at this time, in contemplation to
invite Lord Cornwallis to assume the chief command of the
army in that country. But the idea was not an attractive one
to him. ¢ The more I turn it in my mind,” he said, ¢ the less
inclination I feel to undertake it. I see no field for extra~
ordinary military reputation, and it appears to me, in every
light, dangerous to the greatest degree. To abandon my
children and every comfort on this side the grave; to quarrel
with the Supreme Government in India, whatever it might be ;
to find that I have neither power to model the army or correct
abuses; and, finally, to run the risk of being beat by some
Nabob, and being disgraced to all eternity, which from what I
have read of these battles appears to be a very probable thing

* ‘A learned gentleman (Mr. Dun-
das) last year proposed to give the most
extraordinary powers to the Governor-
General; he at the same time named
the person who was to fill the office. The
person was Earl Cornwallis, whom he
(Mr. Fox) named only for the purpose
of paying homage to his high character.

The name of such a man might make
Parliament consent to the vesting of
such powers in a Governor-General ; but
certain he was that nothing but the
great character of that noble Lord could
ever induce the Legislature to commit
such powers to an individual at the dis-
tance of half the globe.”
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But he was very doubtful at this time whether the con-
ditions of the proffered employment in India would be such as
to satisfy him that he could be of substantial use to the State.
His American experiences had painfully impressed upon him
the fact that there are conditions of service which may frustrate
the best efforts of zeal and ability of the highest order; and
the reports from India, which from time to time had reached
him since his return from the West, did much to confirm this
impression of the evil of divided authority and responsibility,
and the impossibility of escaping unsoiled from the antagonism
of jealous rivals. Pitt was now about to bring in a new India
Bill, and much would depend upon the extent of the power to
be conferred upon the Governor-General. The bill was a very
good bill ;* but the framers of it had striven rather to perfect
the machinery of the Home Government, and to establish just
relations between its several parts, than to institute a system
of government in India so contrived as to prevent those
desperate collisions which had yielded such a growth of
scandals during the protracted administration of Warren
Hastings. The bill did not fulfil the conditions under which
alone Lord Cornwallis believed that he could be serviceable to
the State. Even before it had passed through committee, the
King’s Government had offered him any appointment under
it that he might be inclined to accept. He might go out as
Governor-General, or he might go out as Commander-in-
Chief; but he could not hold both offices. The ¢ favourite
passion,” of which he had spoken in the letter quoted above,
was a desire for military glory. He was very reluctant to

* Lord Russell, in his Memoirs of
Charles Fox, has observed with infinite
truth : ‘It was easy for Mr. Fox, with his
vast powers of reasoning, long exercised
on this subject, to prove that these two
authorities must be always in conflict;
that, with two supreme heads con-
fronted, confusion must ensue, and that
the abuses of the Indian Government
must be perpetuated under so strange and
anomalous a system. The experience of
seventy years, however, has blunted ar-
guments which could not be logically
refuted. The real supremacy of the
Ministers of the Crown, usually kept in
the background, but always ready to be
exerted, has kept in check the adminis-

tration of the Company, and placed the
affairs of India under that guarantee of
ministerial responsibility by which all
things in Great Britain are ordered and
controlled. The Directors of the East
India Company have not ventured to
connive at acts which a Minister of the
Crown would not sanction, and a Minis-
ter of the Crown would not sanction acts
which he could not defend in Parlia-
ment. Thus silently, but effectually,
the spirit of the British Constitution has
pervaded India, and the most absolute
despotism hag been qualified and tem-
pered by the genius of representative
government.”
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leave the line of his profession. But he could not bring him-  1784.
self to accept the chief command of the Indian Army, because,
as he said, ‘“in the present circumscribed situation of the
Commander-in-Chief, without power or patronage, an officer
could neither get credit to himself nor essentially serve the
public ;”” and, as to the Governor-Generalship, he said that if
he should relinquish the profession to which he had devoted his
life from his youth upwards, and had ¢ abandoned every con-
sideration of happiness,” he might find himself ¢in competi-
tion with some person whose habits of business would render
him much more proper for the office.””® Lord Shelburne had
offered him the Governor-Generalship, together with the Chief
Command of the Army, and he was now resolute, for these
reasons, to accept both offices or none.

The decision was conveyed in August to his old friend Treatment of
Lord Sydney, then Secretary of State.t Cornwallis had dis- wl“’a'n“if‘"“'
tinctly declared, on this and other occasions, his desire for pro-
motion in the military service of his country, to which, as both
the King and the King’s Ministers freely admitted, no man
had a better claim. George, indeed, had blurted out that it
was a shame that Lord Cornwallis had not a better military
appointment. But when some vacancies occurred at this
time—as the Colonelcy of the Grenadier Guards and the
Governorship of Plymouth—the King’s Ministers, in & spirit
of the most inexcusable jobbery, nominated men whose pre-
tensions were confined to their family connexions or political
influence. This injustice Cornwallis ‘resented with becoming
dignity. He told Lord Sydney, and he told Mr. Pitt, that if
they had informed him it would be for the benefit of the King
and the King’s Government that his claims should be ignored
in favour of others, he would not only have consented cheerfully
to the arrangement, but have given up a part of his fortune,
if required, to the recipients of the royal patronage. But he
had been rudely set aside without explanation. So he left the
presence of Lord Sydney, who had stammered out some lame
excuses, with an intimation that the friendship between them
was at an end; and he wrote to Mr. Ditt, saying, ¢“1 still

* Lord Cornwallis to Lord Sydney, hend of Cornwallis’s boyhood days. The
August 4, 1784, — Cornwallis Corre- ‘' dear Tommy " to whom he addressed
8 . Ross. the letter quoted at page b.

t Lord Sydney was the Tomn Towns-
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admire your character. I have still hopes that your abilities
and integrity will preserve this distressed country; I will not
be base enough, from a sense of personal injury, to join faction,
and endeavour, right or wrong, to obstruct the measures of
Government ; but I must add—and with heartfelt grief I do
it—that private confidence cannot easily be restored.” But it
was restored—after a lapse of only two days. Cornwallis and
the young Minister met by the request of the latter; and Pitt
offered him the post of Constable of the Tower, which he had
before held for many years. Cornwallis declined the offer.
But when Pitt said that nothing had been further from his in-
tention than to slight one who had rendered such distinguished
service to his country, and that if he had unwittingly offended,
he could only ask pardon, and offer any reparation in his
power, the generous nature of the soldier was satisfied ; he ac-
cepted the appointment ; and there was an end of the rupture

between him and both Sydney and Pitt.

This was in November, 1784. The new India Bill was by
this time in full working order; and Mr. Dundas had become
the Indian Minister, as the working member and real autocrat
of the Board of Control. Cornwallis did not predict that much
good would result from the arrangement ; for he thought that
Dundas, though “a very clever fellow,” was ‘but a short-
sighted politician.” But the latter was sufficiently far-seeing
to be anxious to secure for India the services of so good a man
as Cornwallis; and the new year was not many weeks old,
when Pitt wrote a friendly, flattering letter, pressing the
Governor-Generalship again upon him, and earnestly request-
ing an interview. The result was, that Pitt asked him to talk
the matter over with Dundas. When he met the Minister,
Cornwallis thought that he espied trickery and intrigue; that
it was intended to smoothe down some ministerial difficulty,
and had little reference either to what was due to him or what
was due to the public. In order to propitiate him, Dundas said
that it would be easy to amend certain provisions of the India
Bill which restricted the powers of the Governor-General.
But Cornwallis still thought that the whole affair savoured of
an arrangement; and so, after deliberating with himself for
four-and-twenty hours, he respectfully declined the offer.*

* Lord Cornwallis to Colonel Ross, are: “1I easily found out from him
Feb, 23, 1786.—The words of the letter (Dundasy that, after having lost sight
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On the 8th of February, 1785—almost at the very time
when Pitt was pressing the Governor-Generalship on Lord
Cornwallis*—Warren Hastings, amidst a shower of valedictory
addresses, carrying with him the good wishes of large bodies
of people, of all races and professions, walked down to the
river-side at Calcutta, and embarked on board the pinnace
which was to convey the departing Governor-General to the
vessel then waiting to bear him to England. He was suc-
ceeded in the government by Mr. John Macpherson, the
senior member of Council. In the course of the summer of
that year, Lord Macartney, who had been Governor of Madras,
went round to Calcutta, where, being determined to set the
young gentlemen of the settlement an example of frugality
and endurance, he walked out in the sun without an umbrella,
and nearly died from the effects of his devotion. This was not,
however, the only incident which distinguished his visit to
Bengal. He received there a letter from the Court of Directors
addressed to him as Governor-General.t The refusal of Lord
Cornwallis to accept the office had been followed by the nomi-
nation of Lord Macartney, who had the claim of good Indian
service, and who was on the spot to take up the reins of office.
But the arrangement was not palatable to all the members of
the King’s Government ; and I suspect that the ¢ momentary
rub among themselves,” of which Cornwallis had spoken as the
cause of the renewal of the offer to him, was in reality a differ-
ence of opinion regarding the expediency of selecting Lord
Macartney. But the latter nobleman had no greater desire
than the former to be the successor of Warren Hastings. He
required rest ; he required, after the dangerous experiment of
walking in the sun, a visit to a milder climate for the restora-

of my going for six months, it was now
taken up to prevent some di ment
of the Cabinet. He told me that if I
would say I would go, many things
which I objected to in the bill should
be altered. I was well aware of the
danger of a declaration of that sort, and
indeed from their manner of conducting
business ever since their bill passed,
their disagreements at home, and the
circumstances attending the appoint-
ment of their generals, and the present
sudden application to me, merely to get
rid of a momentary rub among them-

VOL. I.

selves, I was convinced it would be
madness in me to engage; so that, after
taking twenty-four hours to consider, I
gave a very civil negative.””— Corn-
wallis Correspondence. Ross.

* In the above letter, dated Feb. 23,
it is said that Pitt made the offer “a
fortnight ago.”

{ Lord Macartney was appointed
Governor-General of India by a reso-
lution of the Court, dated Feb. 17, 1785.
The votes for and against were equal,
and the decision was arrived at by lot.

D

1786.



1785,

Cornwallis in
Prussia,

34 LORD CORNWALLIS.

tion of his shattered health; so he turned his face towards
England, and left the interregnum of Mr. Macpherson to con-
tinue for another year.

In the mean while, work of another kind had been found for
Lord Cornwallis. The continental relations of Great Britain
were at that time in a state which it was impossible to regard
without some apprehensions of evil. "We were in a condition
of most discouraging isolation. Our only friend and ally was
Prussia ; and Frederick was not very eager to boast of the con-
nexion. It was thought, however, that he might be persuaded
to put aside the over-cautious reserve which stood in the way
of a closer alliance between the two countries, and that this
object might more readily be attained through the agency of
some unaccredited Englishman of rank, than through the
ordinary official channel of the British Minister at Berlin. It
happened that Lord Cornwallis had been contemplating a con-
tinental tour with the avowed object of improving his pro-
fessional knowledge by visiting the great Prussian Reviews.
He was just the man, therefore, for the purpose, as one not
likely to awaken the suspicions of the King. Solicited by our
Ministers, he readily undertook to do his best, and at the end
of the summer he crossed the Channel. His instructions in-
culcated caution. He was to listen rather than to talk; to
receive rather than to give; to draw Frederick into an avowal
of his wishes rather than to declare those of his own Court.
But it was soon apparent to him that he was not likely to
make much political progress in Prussia. He was disappointed
with everything ; disappointed with his reception, disappointed
with the reviews, and very glad when the time came to return
to England. Before he set his face homewards, however, he

Interview with had accomplished an interview with Frederick, which resulted

Frederick the
Great,

in a clear declaration of the views and wishes of the great
King. The growing infirmity of monarchs is the best security
for peace. What Frederick might have said, years before, we
can only conjecture ; but, in his decrepitude, he longed to be
left to his repose, and the policy which suited him best was
that which was most certain to have a pacific issue. He said,
in effect, that England and Prussia were not strong enough to
contend with France, Austria, and Russia, and that any open
alliance between the two first-named powers might result in a
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disastrous war. If Russia could be weaned from the Austrian
connexion, a tripartite alliance might do something ; but Eng-
land and Prussia alone would be powerless against those three
great states, with all their lesser allies. England would have
to bear the brunt of the war by sea, and Prussia by land ; and
the astute monarch saw plainly that nothing but ruin could
result from such a combination against him.*

1785.

Lord Cornwallis returned to England before the end of the Return to
year. On the 9th of January, 1786, Lord Macartney arrived England.

from India. The question of the Governor-Generalship was
now to be definitively settled. Lord Macartney had been
formally appointed Governor-General ; but he desired to attach
to his acceptance of the office certain conditions to which the
King’s Ministers demurred. He was an Irish Peer. He
asked for an English Peerage. The Government thought that
this should be rather a reward for good service done than a
¢ bid” for good service to be done, and therefore refused to
comply with his request. It would seem that they were not
sorry to split with him. He had some enemies in the Cabinet,
and external influences had been brought to bear against his
succession.t Moreover, there was a growing conviction that
Lord Cornwallis was the right man to be sent to India, if his

® Memorandum by Lord Cornwallis.
— Cornwallis  Corresponde Ross.—

The following extract from the * Heads”
of Conversation is interesting, on more
than one account. ‘ The King said that
he knew France was trying to hurt us
everywhere; that she had sent people
to India to disturb the tranquillity of
that country, but they had returned
without effecting anything; that she
was busily employed in Ireland. He
hoped we would lose no time in putting
our affairs there on so safe a footing as
to be in no danger of a civil war, which,
on an appearance of a foreign onme,
France would not fail to use her utmost
efforts to foment.” This interview took
place on September 17, 1785. Carlyle,
in his ** History of Frederick the Great,"
makes no mention of it; but it was well
worthy of mention. He, however, speaks
of a royal dinner-party, on a previous
day, after a review at Gross-Tinz, at
which entertainment were present ‘‘ La
;ayet'ta, Cornwallis, and the Duke of
ork.”

t This is very clearly stated in the
following passage of a letter from Mr.
Dundas, given in ‘ Barrow’s Life of
Macartney :”* * You are rightly informed
when you suppose that the appointment
of Lord Macartney was not a favourite
measure withseveral members of the ad-
ministration. Neither was it popular
with a great body of the directors and
proprietors of the East India Company.
I need not mention that it was not
agreeable either to the partisans of Mr.
Hastings or of Sir John Macpherson.
‘When, therefore, against such an accu-
mulation of discontent and opposition
Mr. Pitt was induced by me to concur
in the return of Lord Macartney to
India as Governor-General, it was not
unnatural that both of us should have
felt hurt that he did not rather repose
his future fortunes in our hands than
make it the subject of a sine qud non
preliminary. And I think, if Lord
Macartney had known us as well then
as he did afterwards, he would have felt
as we did.”

D 2
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scruples could be overcome. He had always believed that
unless large powers were vested in him, he could render no
service to his country. He desired to hold in his own hands
both the supreme civil and the supreme military authority ;
and, seeing that if thwarted, as Hastings had been by a factious
opposition in the Council, he would have no real power of any
kind, he declared it to be an essential condition of his accept-
ance of the office that he should be empowered on great oc-
casions to act upon his own responsibility, against the votes of
the majority of the Council. To these conditions Pitt and
Dundas readily consented. They could not have placed these
extended powers in any safer hands than those of Lord Corn-
wallis ; and in safe hands this extension of authority could not
be other than a public good. So at last Cornwallis consented
to be Governor-General and Commander-in-Chief in India.*
¢“The proposal of going to India,” he wrote on the 23rd of
February to Colonel Ross, ‘“has been pressed upon me so
strongly, with the circumstance of the Governor-General’s
being independent of his Council, as intended in Dundas’s
former bill, and having the supreme command of the military,
that, much against my will, and with grief of heart, I have
been obliged to say yes, and to exchange a life of ease and con-
tent, to encounter all the plagues and miseries of command and
public station. I have this day notified my consent, and shall
go down to-morrow for a few days to Culford.”t It was all
settled now. There was an end to the doubts, and questionings,
and obstinate self-conflicts of years.

Of the two nominees, the rejected one was, probably, far
the happier of the two. Lord Macartney is said to have been
delighted with the result. ¢ That he had a strong disinclina-
tion to accept the appointment,” says his biographer, Mr.
Barrow, “and that the conditions on which only he could
accept it were made solely on public grounds, the following
anecdote, obligingly communicated by Lady Macartney, is
an unequivocal proof. Her ladyship being one evening at a
large party, Lord Macartney came in, and being impatient to
communicate some intelligence to her, took out a card, and

* Lord Cornwallis was appointed  solution of the Court of Directors, dated

Governor-General by an unanimous re- February 24, 1786.
t Cornwallis Correspondence. "Ross.
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wrote with a pencil on the back of it as follows: ¢ I am the
happrest man in England at this hour. Lord Cornwallis, I hear,
8 Governor-General of India.’ The card is still in her lady-
ship’s possession, with the pencil writing upon it.”*

The King’s Ministers kept their promise, and prepared at
once to bring in a supplementary Act of Parliament, explain-
ing or amending the objectionable clauses in the India Bill of
1784.t It was certain that it would be opposed. The party
who saw, or pretended to see, only a constitutional safeguard
in such opposition as that with which Francis and Clavering
had held in restraint the independent action of Governor-
General Hastings, were alarmed and indignant at the thought
of placing such large powers in the hands of a single man. It
was to establish a gigantic despotism. So against this mea-
sure Edmund Burke lifted up his voice, declaring that it con-
templated the introduction of an arbitrary and despotic go-
vernment into India, on the false pretence of its tending to
increase the security of our British Indian possessions, and
to give fresh vigour, energy, and promptitude to the conduct of
business, where before had been only weakness, decrepitude,
and delay. To this Dundas replied in a convincing speech,

* Barrow's Life of Macartney.

+ The following is the portion of the
bill which relates to the extension of the
powers of the Governor-General. It
was ‘‘enacted, that when and so often
as any measure or question shall be pro-
posed or agitated in the Supreme Council
at Fort William, in Bengal . . . whereby
the interests of the said United Com-
pany, or the safety or tranquillity of
the British Possessions in India, are or
may be essentially concerned or affected,
and the said Governor-General . . . .
shall be of opinion that it will be ex-
pedient either that the measures so pro-
posed or agitated ought to be adopted
or carried into execution, or that the
same ounght to be suspended, or wholly
rejected, and the several other members
of such Council then present shall dis-
sent from such opinion, the said Go-
vernor-General, . . . and the Members
of the said Council, shall communicate
in Council to each other in writing,
under their respective hands (to be re-
corded at large on their Secret Consulta-,
tions), the respective grounds and rea-
sons of their respective opinions; and

if, after considering the same, the said
Governor-General, . . . and the other
Members of the said Council, shall
severally retain their opinions, it shall
and may be lawful to and for the said
Governor-General . . . to make and
declare any order (to be signed and sub-
scribed by the said Governor-General
« « « .) for suspending or rejecting the
measure or question so proposed or
agitated, in part or in whole, or to
make and declare such order and reso-
lution for adopting and carrying the
measure 8o proposed or agitated into
execution, as the said Governor-Gene-
ral . . . shall think fit and expedient;
which said last-mentioned order and re-
solution, so made and declared, shall be
signed, as well by the said Governor-
General . . . as by all the other Mem-
bers of the Council then present, and
shall be as effectual and valid to all
intents and purposes as if all the said
other Members had advised the same, or
concurred therein.” The words omitted
relate to the extension in like manner
of the powers of the Governor of Madras.
and Bombay.
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which must have touched, in a sensitive place, Philip Francis,
who had endeavoured to introduce a bill of his own—that
arbitrary and despotic government might result from the
action of two or three, no less than from the action of one;
and that it was certain that all the mischief and misfor-
tune that had, for'many years, afflicted India, had arisen from
the existence of party feelings and factious behaviour among
the different members of Council. The bill was passed by
large majorities in both Houses of Parliament.

Before this bill had passed into law, Lord Cornwallis had
sailed for India. He embarked on board the Swallow packet
in the first week of May,* accompanied by his staff, which
then consisted of his dear friend Colonel Ross, Captain Hal-
dane, and Lieutenant Madden. It happened that among the
passengers on board the Swallow was one of the ablest and
most esteemed members of the Company’s Civil Service.
After many years of good work in India, where he had chiefly
distinguished himself in the Revenue Department, Jobn Shore
had returned to England in the hope of ending his days there
in the enjoyment of the very moderate competence which he
had earned by honest exertion. But the high character which
he carried home with him had recommended him to the Court
of Directors for employment in a more important situation
than any which he had yet held ; and they had invited him to
return to India to fill a coming vacancy in the Supreme
Council. He had accepted the offer with manifest reluctance ;
but he had not proceeded far on his voyage, when the prospect
before him sensibly brightened, and the regrets with which he
had abandoned ease and happiness in England began to lose
half their poignancy. He was soon in habits of intimacy with
Lord Cornwallis—of intimacy cemented by mutual esteem ;
and there was in the disposition of the new Governor-Ge-

neral, and in the high sense

* Lord Teignmouth, in his life of his
father, says that Mr. Shore ¢ sailed
from Portsmouth on the 12th of April ;"
but it is obvious, from a letter in the
Cornwallis Correspondence, that the
vessel had not left Portsmouth on the

of public duty which he was

80th. It is probable that Shore went
on board in the river, and that the
vessel sailed for Portsmouth on the
12th. The point, however, is of no im-
portance.
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and no man knew better the eminent services which he had
rendered to his country. But he had a keen sense, also, of the
errors which Hastings had committed both in his public and
his private life, and he felt that the political and social
morality of the English in India alike demanded a sweeping
reform. ‘

Upon general subjects of this kind, and upon more par-
ticular questions of administration, Shore had so much to say,
and Cornwallis was so well disposed to inquire and to listen,
that the new Governor-General found that his voyage to India
by no means covered a period of lost time. 'When he reached
Calcutta, he was as well informed on Indian affairs as any
man could be who had been fighting the battles of his country
so long in the opposite hemisphere, and had never thought
that Providence would cast his lot in the Eastern world. But,
even in circumstances the most favourable, it is a strange and
perplexing situation in which a man, whose experiences of
other countries, however great, can neither guide nor help
him, finds himself, when first called upon to administer the
maultitudinous affairs of our Eastern Empire. That empire,
compared with the extent which it has now attained, was,
when Cornwallis entered upon its government, one of very
limited dimensions. But that which then contracted the
sphere of our internal administration enlarged the scope of our
foreign policy, and the unsettled state of our relations with the
Princes and Chiefs of the neighbouring dominions was a source
of even greater anxiety than the disorders which obstructed
the domestic government of our own possessions. To be a
little staggered and bewildered at first is the necessary condi-
tion of humanity in such a conjuncture ; and Lord Cornwallis
was not one to form more than a modest estimate of his in-
dividual power to cope with the difficulties which beset his
position.

On the 11th of September, 1786, the Swallow anchored in
the Hooghly, and on the following morning Lord Cornwallis
disembarked with his staff. All the principal people of the
settlement, headed by Mr. Macpherson, went down to the
river-side to welcome him and to conduct him to the Fort,
where his commissions were read, and he took the oaths of
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office.* It was a great event for Bengal ; a great event for
India. For the first time, an English nobleman of high rank
and high character had appeared in Bengal, fresh from the
Western world, knowing nothing of India but what he had
read in books or gleaned from conversation ; bringing a new
eye, a new hand to the work before him ; and having no regard
for the traditions and the usages which had given the settle-
ment so unsavoury a reputation. What had been heard of him
before his coming was not much ; but the little was of a nature
to win the respect of some, perhaps to excite the alarm of
others, and there was a general feeling of a coming

It was known before his arrival, that in England, beset by
petitioners for place and patronage as he was from the very
moment of his acceptance of office, he had resolutely refused to
make any promises even to his nearest friends.t And now it
soon became apparent that he was proof against all similar
importunities in India. He knew that he had a great work
before him, and that he could do it only with the cleanest
hands. If he had been followed to India by wistful hangers-
on and hungry parasites, he could have accomplished little ;
but the purity and disinterestedness of his conduct were so

* The following is the account of the
Governor-General's arrival, as given in
a cotemporary Calcutta journal. I am
indebted for it to an interesting volume
of extracts from the Indian newspapers
of the last century, published by my
friend Mr. Seton-Karr, now a judge of
the High Court of Calcutta :

“ Thursday, Sept. 14, 1786. Calcutta.
—On Monday last arrived in the river
the Right Honourable the Earl Corn-
wallis, and on Tuesday morning he came
on shore. His Lordship was met at the
water-alde by a party of the body-

; from thence he walked into the
Fort, where he was received by the late
Governor-General with every respect
due to the dignity of his rank and cha-
racter. The troops were under arms,
and received his Lordship as their future
Commander-in-Chief with all the mili-
tary honours. His Lordship's commis-
sion investing him with the extensive
powers of Governor-General and Com-
mander-in-Chief was then read, after
which he retired to breakfast, when
several gentlemen had the honour of

being introduced to his Lordship. With
Lord Cornwallis came Mr. Shore (though
indlsposmon prevented him from attend-
ing his Lordship in person), Colonel
Ross, Captain Haldane, and Mr. Mad-
den, a nephew of his Lordship.”

1+ “Earl Cornwallis has conducted
himself, since his appointment, with
singular reserve, To the numerous so-
licitations which have been poured in
upon him from all quarters, he has
given the most peremptory refusal, and
has informed his friends that it is his
determined purpose not to make any
arrangements, nor to give any appoint-
ments, until he is seated in his govern-
ment. The noble Earl takes out but
three friends: Colonel Ross, who is to
be his secretary, Captain Halden, and
Captain Maddox. Colonel Tarleton has
come home in the prospect of sec:
an appointment from Lord Cornwallis,
but the Colonel has received the same
answer with all the other applicants,
that the noble Lord had it not in his
power to make a single appointment in
England.” —Calcutta Gazette.

1786.



1786.

42 LORD CORNWALLIS.

apparent from the beginning, that people soon began to ac-
quiesce in that which, however inconvenient to them, they
knew had its root only in the public virtue of their new ruler.

He was a kind-hearted man, hospitable and courteous, and
the social amenities ever due from the Governor-General to his
companions in exile were dispensed with no niggardly hand.
At that time, the spacious and imposing edifice on the skirts of
the great plain of Calcutta, which now receives the Viceroys
of India on their arrival, was only a design for future execu-
tion. Lord Cornwallis occupied a house of inferior pretensions
to many that were held by the leading servants of the Com-
pany. But he was always averse to pomp and display, and
was well content to divest himself as much as possible of the
accessories of State. ¢ My life is not a very agreeable one,”
he wrote soon after his arrival, *but I have ventured to leave
off a good deal of the buckram, which rather improves it.”
The inconvenience of limited space, as an impediment to
hospitality on a grand scale, was obviated by a resort on great
occasions to one of the public buildings of Calcutta. The
guests of the Governor-General were received in the ¢ Old
Court House.”* At these entertainments there was no lack
of geniality, but an example of moderation was set which per-
manently influenced the social usages of the English in India.
It was soon known that hard drinking and high play were dis-
tasteful to Lord Cornwallis, and would be discountenanced by
him. And from that time a steady improvement supervened
upon the social morality of the Presidency. People began to
keep earlier hours ; there was less of roystering and of gambling

* The following is the account of the
English Government House, given by a
cotemporary French writer, M. Grand-
pré: “The Governor-General of the
English settlements east of the Cape of
Good Hope resides at Calcutta. As
there is no palace yet built for him, he
lives in a house on the Esplanade, oppo-
site the Citadel. The house is hand-
some, but by no means equal to what it
ought to be for a person of so much im-
portance. Many private individuals in
the town have houses as good; and if
the Governor were disposed to any ex-
traordinary luxury, he must curb his
inclination for want of the necessary

accommodation of room. The house of
the Governor of Pondicherry is much
more magnificent.”” There is a question
at this time as to the spot on which the
old Government House stood. An in-
genious writer in the Calcutta Review
(the Rev. Mr. Long, I believe) says:
¢ Opinions differ as to the precise local-
ity of the old Government House, Some
say it was where the Treasury is now,
and others at the south-east cormer of
Government-place.” The “old Court
House,” which also did duty for &
town-hall, stood on the site now occu-
pied by the Scotch church. It was
pulled down in 1792,
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Behold the child, by nature’s sickly law,
- Pleased with a rattle, tickled with a straw ;
Some livelier plaything gives his youth delight,
A little louder, but as empty quite ;
 Scarfs, garters, gold, amuse his riper stage,

And beads and prayer-books are the toys of age.
But I can assure you, upon my honour, that I neither asked
for it nor wished for it. The reasonable object of ambition to
a man is to have his name transmitted to posterity for eminent
services rendered to his country and to mankind. Nobody
asks or cares whether Hampden, Marlborough, Pelham, or
Wolfe were Knights of the Garter.” This is very pleasant in
its good sense, its good feeling, and, above all, its undeniable
truth. It is, moreover, essentially characteristic of the writer ;
for he was the least ambitious and self-seeking of public men,
and if he could only serve the State and benefit his family, he
was content. The Blue Riband was really nothing to him. He
could afford to laughat it. ¢ Iam a Knight and no Knight,”
he wrote in another letter to his son; ¢ for my stars, garters,
and ribands are all lost in Arabia, and some wild Arab is now
making a figure with Hon? soit qui mal y pense round his knee.*
I hope you have got French enough to construe that, but I
own it is not a very easy sentence. If I continue to hear good
accounts of you, I shall not cry after my stars and garters.
« « « « I think, upon the whole, as you intend your bay horse
for a hunter, you were right to cut off his tail.”

Thoughts of this kind keep men alive in India. In few
breasts have the domestic affections been more deeply rooted
than in that of Lord Cornwallis. The burning sun of India
took nothing from their greenery and freshness. Amidst the
incessant toil and anxious responsibility of his twofold office,

' * They seem, however, to have been
recovered, or another set of insignia was
sent; for the Calcutta Gazette of the
15th of March, 1787, says: “ We had
the pleasure of announcing to the public
in last Gazette the arrival of the Blue
Ribbon, and all the insignia of the Order
of the Garter, for the Right Honourable
the Governor-General. His Lordship,
having been authorised to make his own
choice of the persons to perform the
ceremony of investiture, was pleased to
nominate the Honourable Charles Stuart
and John Shore, Esquires, two members

of the Supreme Council, to execute that
office, and to fix on Thursday last for
the purpose. Accordingly, in presence
of a numerous and splendid company,
his Lordship was invested at the Govern-
ment House with the Ribbon by Mr.
Stuart, and by Mr. Shore with the
Garter, when a salute of twenty-one
guns was fired from Fort William, and
his Lordship received the congratulations
of the company present, on being ho-
noured with so distinguished and well-
earned a mark of his royal master's
regard and approbation.”



STATE OF THE CIVIL SERVICE. 45

he was sustained by thoughts of his Suffolk home. ¢ Let me  1786.
know that you are well, and that you are doing well,” he wrote
to his children, “and I can be happy even in Calcutta.” He
had found that his work was very onerous and his duties very
unpleasant—especially unpleasant, it may be said, to a good-
tempered, kindly hearted man, who was always very happy
when he was doing some good office to another—for his public
duty was continually bringing him into conflict with private
interest. There was necessarily much perplexity in the new-
ness of his situation, and many points upon which time alone
could enable him to form self-satisfying and conclusive opinions.
But amidst 'all the doubts and uncertainties which distracted
him, one clear demonstrable truth gleamed out from the sur-
rounding darkness. He had an overpowering conviction that
the prosperity of the British Empire in India depended more
upon the character of the European functionaries employed in
its administration than upon anything in the world beside. He
could see, somewhat indistinctly, perhaps, at first, that the
system itself was bad ; but he knew that the best systems in
the world must fail if its agents were wanting in wisdom and
integrity. What Mr. John Macpherson had called—a little too
blandly, perhaps—the ¢ relaxed habits™ of the public service
of India was an insuperable obstacle to successful administra-
tion. There was nothing strange or inexplicable in the state
of things which then existed. In good truth, it was the most
natural thing in the world—to be accounted for without any
large amount of philosophic penetration. The East India
Company had not at that time learnt to appreciate the great
truth, which soon afterwards became the very root of their
nrarvellous prosperity, that good pay is the parent of good ser-
vice. They had granted to their servants only a small official
pittance, with the tacit understanding that the small pay was
to be atoned for by the great opportunities of official position.
It was a very old story ; but so curious, that even now it may
be worth telling in detail.

When, in the reign of James the First, Sir Thomas Roe Rise and pr
went out as Ambassador to the Court of the Mogul, and took %l:::pmy'a
& comprehensive survey of the Company’s establishments, his Civil Servic
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quick eye hit the blot at once. He saw that their servants,
being permitted to trade on their own account, neglected the
affairs of their masters. How could anything else be expected ?
‘What did they leave their homes for ?—for what did they banish
themselves to a wretched country, and consent to live far away
from all the amenities of civilisation? The Private Trade was
naturally more to them than the Public Trade. The ambas-
sador, therefore, recommended the Company to prohibit it
altogether, and to grant sufficient salaries to their servants.
¢ Absolutely prohibit the private trade,” he said, ¢ for your
business will be better done. I know this is harsh. Men
profess they care not for bare wages. But you will take away
this plea if you give great wages to their content ; and then
you know what you part from. But then you must make
good choice of your servants, and have fewer.” He was a
great man—obviously in advance of his age! But it took
nearly two centuries to ingraft this truth on the understanding
of the Company.

And so their servants, as they settled down, first in one
factory, then in another, took their bare wages, and made
what money they could by trade. It had not been made worth
their while to be diligent and honest servants; and, cut off
from their employers by thousands of miles of sea, which it
then took five or six months, and often more, to traverse, they
did not stand in much fear of the controlling authority at
home. Every now and then some one was sent out with
special powers to set the different factories in order, and to re-
form the establishments ; but it was a mercy if, in a little time,
he did not mar what he was sent to mend, and, being more
powerful than all the rest, become more profligate too.

Still, if there was not much order, there was some form.
A system of promotion was established which, with but slight
variation, lasted not far from two centuries. It was laid down
in London in the following terms, and carried out at all the
factories : ¢ For the advancement of our apprentices,” said
the Court of Directors, * we direct that, after they have
served the first five years, they shall have 10L per annum for
the two last years; and, having served these two years, to be
entertayned one yeare longer as writers, and have writers’
sallary ; and having served that yeare, to enter into the degree
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of factors, which otherwise would have been ten years. And,
knowing that a distinction of titles is in many respects neces-
sary, we do order that when the apprentices have served their
times, they be stiled writers ; and when the writers have served
their times, they be called factors; and factors having served
their times, to be stiled merchants; and merchants having
served their times, to be stiled senior merchants.” After a
time, the style and rank of apprentice ceased, but the title of
¢ writer,” ¢ factor,” ¢ junior merchant,” and ¢ senior mer-
chant,” lasted long after the civilians had ceased altogether to
trade—lasted, we may eay, almost as long as the Company
itself.

A clear idea of one of the Company’s establishments, at the
end of the seventeenth or the beginning of the eighteenth cen-
tury, may be derived from a little volume of travels written by
one Charles Lockyer, and published in 1711. The most
flourishing of their settlements at that time was Madras. Mr.
Lockyer says, ¢ that it was the grandest and the best ordered.
As it surpasses their other settlements in grandeur, so the
orders of the Council are more regarded and punctually
executed, and each member has a respect proportionably
greater than others shown to him.” The civil establishment
consisted of a president, with a salary of 200L per annum,
and gratuity of 100L ; six councillors, with salaries from 100
to 40 a year, according to rank; six senior merchants, 40L
each; two junior merchants, at 30l per annum ; five factors,
at 15 ; and ten writers at 5. per annum. Married men were
allowed ¢ diet money” besides their pay, at a rate of from five
to ten pagodas (say from 2l to 4L) a month. ¢ But for in-
ferior servants, who dine at the general table, they have only
washing and oyl for lamps extraordinary.” The Company’s
servants lived together in the old fort. ¢ The Governour’s
lodgings,” says Mr. Lockyer, ¢ take up about a third part of
the inner fort, is three stories high, and has many appartments
in it. Two or three of the Council have their rooms there, as
well as several inferiour servants; the ’countant’s and secre-
tary’s offices are kept one story up; but the consultation-room
is higher, curiously adorned with fire-arms, in several figures,
imitating those in the armory of the Tower of London.”
There were two common tables; one at which the Governor

1600—1700.
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and the higher servants dined ; another appropriated to the -
factors and writers — ¢ differing only in this,” says Mr.
Lockyer—* here you have a great deal of punch and little
wine ; there what wine you please, and as little punch.” The
Grovernor went abroad with an escort of native peons, ‘ besides
his English guards to attend him,” with two Union flags
carried before him, and ¢ country musick enough to frighten a
stranger into a belief the men were mad.”*

This account of the factory at Madras may, with slight
variations, be held to describe also the factory at Surat, the
only one which at that time could vie with it. The salaries
were nearly the same, and the customs of the settlement almost
identical. It would appear, however, that all the Company’s
servants (sitting according to their rank) dined at ome table,
which is said to have been kept up in great style— all the
dishes, plates, and drinking-cups being of massive and pure
gilver.” A band of music attended the President at dinner,
and when the kabobs came in after the soup, and the curry
after the kabobs, there was a flourish of trumpets to announce
each arrival.

The cost of all this was doubtless very small, and the parade
thereof very modest, judged by the standard of the present
times. But those were the early days of the Company,
who started from small beginnings, and were prooeedmg
upon what was then called a ¢ purely mercantile bottom.”
They were, therefore, not very well pleased when the ship-
captains carried home to them grievous accounts of the pomp
and extravagance of their servants ; and so they set themselves
to work, heart and soul, to correct this licentiousness. Next
to the matter of good investments, it was for a long time to
come their leading idea to inculcate personal economy and
purity of life; and though the thrift was somewhat exag-
gerated, it cannot be said that there was not some reason for
the uneasiness that they felt.

The seventeenth century closed in darkly and turbulently
upon the Company’s establishments in all parts of India. East
and West it was all the same. Bengal vied with Surat in the

* This writer gives a minute account per cent, by a venture, money borrowed
of the trade carried on by the Com- at twenty-five per cent. from a native
pany’s servants. He says, that as it capitalist tnmed out very well.

. 'Was no uncommon thing to make fifty
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Iawlessness and licentiousness of the English factories. The
fierce internecine contentions which arose among the Com-
pany’s servants were the greatest scandal of all. Now-a-days,
when members of Council fall out, they write strongly-worded
minutes against each other, content with a war of words. At
the end of the eighteenth century they  went out,” accord-
ing to the most approved laws of honour, and fired pistols at
each other; but at the close of the seventeenth they used
their fists, supplemented by an occasional cudgel—the argu-
mentum bacculinum being held in great esteem in the English
councils. The President kept his councillors in order with a
staff, and sometimes enforced his authority with such a lavish
expenditure of blows, that human nature could not bear up
without complaining. One unfortunate member of the Civil
Service of the period complained that he had received from
the President * two cuts in the heads, the one very long and
deep, the other a slight thing in comparison to that; then a
great blowe on my left arme, which has enflamed the shoulder,
and deprived me of the use of that limbe ; on my right side a
blowe in my ribs, just beneath the pap, which is a stoppage
to my breath, and makes me incapable of helping myself; on
my left hip another, nothing inferior to the first ; but, above
all, a cut on the brow of my eye.” Truly a hazardous service ;
but there were greater dangers even than these cudgellings,
for it was reported home to the Company, in 1696-97, that
there had been a plot among their servants at Surat to murder
the President. ¢ There is strong presumption that it was
intended first that the President should be stabbed ; when
hopes of that failed by the guards being doubled, it seems
poison was agreed upon, and all bound to secresy upon a
horrid imprecation of damnation to the discoverer, whom the
rest were to fall upon and cut off.”*

In Bengal, matters were in no better state. That settle-
ment was not then what it afterwards came to be—the chief
seat of English trade and English government—but was
looked upon, by reason of its remoteness, as a sort of outlying
factory of no great credit or promise. The Company’s esta-
blishment was then at Chuttanutty, which has since come to
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be called Calcutta, a place then of no great account ; and the
Company’s servants, under the chieftainship of Job Charnock,
had not lived together more peacefully than their brethren at
Surat. Charnock appears to have been a bold bad man, half
a heathen, immoderately addicted to fighting, and not only
contentious himself, but the cause of contention among others.
As a man of business he was slothful in the extreme, hated
writing letters and recording * consultations” for the perusal
of his masters at home, and therefore threw himself into the
hands of a fellow named Hall, ¢ captain of the soldiers,” who
kept a punch-house and a billiard-table, and soon came to
rule the settlement. There were besides, at that time, among
the chief servants of the Company, a Mr. Ellis, who is said
to have been as ignorant as Charnock was slothful ; and one
Charles Pale, who was as fond of fighting as his chief, and
¢ whose masterpiece,” it is said, ‘ was to invent differences
between man and man, and deeply swear to the most extra-
vagant lies he could invent.” Things were, indeed, in so bad
a state, that Sir John Gouldsburgh went round from Madras
to reduce them to order. Before he arrived, Charnock and
Pale had died ; and so two obstacles to the reformation of the
settlement were removed.

The equanimity of the Company was at this time much dig-
turbed by the bad writing and the bad morals of their ser-
vants. Whether there was any connexion discovered between
the two is not very apparent, though more unlikely relation-
ships have ere now been detected. It would be hard to
judge by their penmanship some public<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>